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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2008

or

¨ Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
For the transition period from              to             

Commission File Number: 1-13069

CHOICEPOINT INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 1



Georgia 58-2309650
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

1000 Alderman Drive, Alpharetta, Georgia 30005
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(770) 752-6000

(Registrant�s telephone number, including area code)

N/A

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of �large accelerated filer,� �accelerated filer� and �smaller reporting company� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer  x Accelerated filer  ¨
Non-accelerated filer  ¨ Smaller reporting company  ¨
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).     Yes  ¨    No  x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer�s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class Outstanding at April 30, 2008
Common Stock, $.10 par value per share 68,495,535
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements
CHOICEPOINT INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2008 2007
Service revenue $ 252,907 $ 239,617
Reimbursable expenses 3,539 4,859

Total revenue 256,446 244,476

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue 136,930 130,428
Reimbursable expenses 3,539 4,859
Selling, general and administrative 60,244 53,926
Other operating charges (Note 5) 4,069 1,157

Total costs and expenses 204,782 190,370

Operating income 51,664 54,106
Interest expense 7,669 6,316

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 43,995 47,790
Provision for income taxes 17,591 18,222

Income from continuing operations 26,404 29,568
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 6) (3,419) 1,354

Net income $ 22,985 $ 30,922

Earnings per share (Note 8)
Basic:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.40 $ 0.39
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations (0.05) 0.02

Net income $ 0.34 $ 0.41

Diluted:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.39 $ 0.38
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations (0.05) 0.02

Net income $ 0.34 $ 0.40

Weighted average shares � basic 66,775 75,467
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Dilutive effect of stock options 1,425 1,895

Weighted average shares � diluted 68,200 77,362

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CHOICEPOINT INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)

(In thousands, except par values)
March 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,956 $ 20,189
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $5,756 in 2008 and $6,300 in 2007 236,533 208,226
Income tax receivable 10,693 7,297
Deferred tax assets 1,775 1,515
Other current assets 38,344 36,168
Assets of businesses held for sale (Note 6) 140,066 146,590

Total current assets 459,367 419,985

Property and equipment, net 52,023 53,210
Goodwill 591,776 584,863
Other acquisition intangible assets, net 54,731 54,663
Deferred tax assets 28,316 26,408
Other assets, net 80,084 75,721

Total assets $ 1,266,297 $ 1,214,850

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt $ 11,342 $ 80,000
Accounts payable 60,261 53,977
Accrued salaries and bonuses 22,225 24,899
Income taxes payable 27,400 11,741
Other current liabilities 100,701 86,474
Liabilities of businesses held for sale (Note 6) 34,324 31,506

Total current liabilities 256,253 288,597

Long-term debt, less current maturities 562,500 530,000
Postretirement benefit obligations 20,229 20,585
Deferred income taxes 1,035 1,036
Other long-term liabilities 48,274 37,940

Total liabilities 888,291 878,158

Minority interest 26,770 26,770

Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Shareholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 10,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or outstanding �  �  
Common stock, $.10 par value; shares authorized�400,000; shares issued�94,124 in 2008 and 93,426 in 2007 9,412 9,343
Paid-in capital 577,949 553,349
Retained earnings 789,742 766,757
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net (5,645) 386
Treasury stock, at cost, 27,044 shares in 2008 and 27,037 shares in 2007 (1,020,222) (1,019,913)
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Total shareholders� equity 351,236 309,922

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 1,266,297 $ 1,214,850

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CHOICEPOINT INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY

(Unaudited)

(In thousands)
Comprehensive

Income
Common
Stock

Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income, Net Treasury Stock Total

Balance, December 31, 2007 $ 9,343 $ 553,349 $ 766,757 $ 386 $ (1,019,913) $ 309,922
Net income $ 22,985 �  �  22,985 �  �  22,985
Change in fair value of derivatives, net of
deferred taxes of $4,179 (6,268) �  �  �  (6,268) �  (6,268)
Change in cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment 237 �  �  �  237 �  237

Comprehensive income $ 16,954

Restricted and other stock plans, net 23 3,611 �  �  (303) 3,331
Redemption of stock-based awards (Note
8) �  �  �  �  (13) (13)
Stock distributed from employee benefit
trust �  �  �  �  7 7
Stock options exercised 46 17,091 �  �  �  17,137
Stock-based compensation expense �  2,459 �  �  �  2,459
Tax benefit of stock options exercised �  1,439 �  �  �  1,439

Balance, March 31, 2008 $ 9,412 $ 577,949 $ 789,742 $ (5,645) $ (1,020,222) $ 351,236

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this condensed consolidated financial statement.
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CHOICEPOINT INC.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 22,985 $ 30,922
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of taxes 3,419 (1,354)

Income from continuing operations 26,404 29,568
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by continuing operations:
Depreciation and amortization 14,824 16,100
Non-cash components of other operating charges 486 279
Compensation expense recognized under stock-based compensation plans 5,253 5,535
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net (27,626) (20,090)
Other current assets (1,938) (60)
Deferred income taxes 1,634 (178)
Estimated income taxes 11,543 3,458
Current liabilities, excluding debt and income taxes 14,219 3,455
Other long-term liabilities (920) (297)

Net cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations 43,879 37,770
Net cash provided by operating activities - discontinued operations 7,412 1,765

Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from the disposition of discontinued operations 1,800 27,864
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (6,229) (207)
Additions to property and equipment (4,865) (4,226)
Additions to other assets (10,023) (6,308)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities - continuing operations (19,317) 17,123
Net cash used in investing activities - discontinued operations (1,625) (1,150)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under Credit Facilities 370,000 55,000
Payments on Credit Facilities (337,500) (20,000)
Borrowings under Receivables Facility 10,000 25,000
Payments on Receivables Facility (78,700) (15,000)
Other debt, net 43 �  
Debt issuance costs (992) �  
Settlement of derivatives �  233
Repurchase of common stock �  (90,083)
Redemption of stock-based awards (13) (13,774)
Purchase of stock held by employee benefit trust, net �  (5,000)
Tax benefit of stock options exercised 1,439 13,618
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 17,137 7,084

Net cash used in financing activities - continuing operations (18,586) (42,922)
Net cash used in financing activities - discontinued operations �  (3)
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Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents - continuing operations 15 8
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents - discontinued operations (11) 39

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,767 12,630
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 20,189 26,612

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 31,956 $ 39,242

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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CHOICEPOINT INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2008

(Unaudited)

1. Organization

ChoicePoint Inc. (NYSE: CPS), a Georgia corporation (�ChoicePoint� or the �Company�), is a leading provider of identification and credential
verification services for making smarter decisions in a world challenged by increased risks. The Company provides businesses and non-profit
organizations with technology, software, information and marketing services, all intended to help manage economic risks, as well as identify
business opportunities.

During 2007, the Company decided to divest its iMap business and i2, the software portion of its former Government Services segment. In
connection with the Company�s decision to divest i2, the Company combined the remaining components of its Government Services segment
with its Financial and Professional Services segment. This newly-formed segment was renamed the Business Services segment and includes
virtually all of the Company�s businesses involved in the sale of public information not regulated by the Fair Credit Reporting Act (the �FCRA�) to
customers in all markets, including banking, professional services and government. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation. Consequently, the results of these discontinued operations for such completed fiscal years are reflected in the Company�s
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued operations. Cash flows related to discontinued operations are stated separately
from cash flows related to continuing operations by category in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. As a result, and unless
specifically stated, all discussions regarding the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 reflect results only from continuing operations.
ChoicePoint�s continuing operations are focused on four primary markets�Insurance Services, Screening and Authentication Services, Business
Services and Marketing Services.

On April 23, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to sell i2 in a cash purchase of $185 million, subject to certain pre-closing
adjustments based upon the net working capital of i2 at the closing. In March 2008, the Company completed the sale of its iMap business to a
private investment group for total net proceeds of $1.8 million. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Bode
business, BLJ businesses as well as substantially all of its EquiSearch businesses. The results of these discontinued operations are reflected in
the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued operations.

The Insurance Services group, ChoicePoint�s largest core business, provides data, analytics, software and business information services to
property and casualty (�P&C�) personal and commercial insurance carriers. ChoicePoint�s information solutions help insurers effectively assess
risks in the underwriting process to ensure that their customers receive appropriate policy pricing. In personal lines, our C.L.U.E.®
(Comprehensive Loss Underwriting Exchange) database is the industry�s most complete source of historical claims. Other tools include Current
Carrier®, which identifies the existence of current or previous insurance, as well as any possible lapses in coverage. ChoicePoint�s Insurity
business unit provides software, data and analytics to P&C commercial and personal lines carriers to improve risk acceptance and loss
mitigation. Insurity offers policy administration, claims administration, compliance management, regulatory reporting, reinsurance, billing,
business processing and maintenance service to carriers, brokers, agents and third party administrators.

The Screening and Authentication Services group focuses on employment screenings, tenant screening, vital records and customer enrollment
businesses. WorkPlace Solutions background screening products include instant on-line solutions, as well as comprehensive employment and
background checks, drug testing and tenant screening. Many customers utilize ChoicePoint�s National Criminal File, a comprehensive database
of criminal files that includes criminal conviction records across all 50 states. Formed in 2006, this segment now offers vendor screening, a
one-stop solution that helps organizations manage risk and compliance requirements with third-party vendors. Other businesses in this segment
include VitalChek®, an on-line service that enables consumers to order vital records, such as birth certificates, marriage licenses and death
certificates over the Internet or telephone using credit cards, a service otherwise not available through most government agencies.

The Business Services group provides public information solutions primarily to banking, professional services and government customers. These
services help companies with risk management, enhanced due diligence, verification and
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business credentialing, and allow companies to better mitigate financial and reputational risk and improve their processes and productivity.

The Marketing Services group is a leading provider of direct marketing and database solutions to the insurance and financial services industries.
These solutions help businesses acquire and grow customer relationships through the integration of data, data management, analytics and
marketing technologies.

Proposed Merger with Reed Elsevier

On February 20, 2008, ChoicePoint entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the �Merger Agreement�), by and among ChoicePoint, Reed
Elsevier Group plc (�Reed Elsevier�) and Deuce Acquisition Inc., under which ChoicePoint would be acquired by Reed Elsevier. The transaction
has a total value of approximately $4.1 billion, based on an offer of $50.00 per share and the assumption of approximately $600 million of net
debt.

On April 16, 2008 at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Company, ChoicePoint shareholders voted to approve the Merger Agreement.
More than 99.5 percent of all votes cast were voted in favor of the transaction. The consummation of the transaction remains subject to receipt of
required regulatory approval and satisfaction of customary closing conditions as described in the merger agreement.

On April 29, 2008, the Company announced that it and Reed Elsevier have received a request for additional information from the Federal Trade
Commission (the �FTC�) regarding the proposed merger between the companies. In addition, the companies have been notified of parallel reviews
by the attorneys general of certain states. The FTC information request was issued under notification requirements of the Hart- Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended. The companies intend to cooperate fully and respond expeditiously to the FTC.

Reed Elsevier and the Company submitted a Notice of the proposed transaction to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States
(�CFIUS�) pursuant to the Exon-Florio provisions of the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended. On May 2, 2008, the Department of the
Treasury, which is reviewing the parties� Notice on behalf of CFIUS, notified the parties that it would not be able to complete its review of their
CFIUS filing by May 5, 2008, which is the expiration date of the Department of Treasury�s 30-day review period. The parties withdrew their
Notice on May 5, 2008, and intend to refile in the near future, which will commence another 30-day review period.

We expect that the transaction will close later in the year.

2. Basis of Presentation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ChoicePoint and its subsidiaries. All material transactions and balances
between entities included in the condensed consolidated financial statements have been eliminated. The condensed consolidated financial
statements reflect all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position of
ChoicePoint as of March 31, 2008, the results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, and cash flows for the three
months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007. The adjustments have been of a normal recurring nature.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (�GAAP�) have been condensed or omitted. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be
read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in ChoicePoint�s Consolidated Financial Statements for the
year ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2007. The current period�s results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for a full year.

3. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In 2008 and 2007, such estimates and assumptions
include those used to determine the amounts recognized as impairment charges included in other operating charges and discontinued operations.
See Notes 5 and 6 for additional discussion of these charges. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

8
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4. Revenue and Expense Recognition

Revenue

ChoicePoint recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized or realizable and earned
when it has persuasive evidence that an agreement exists, prices are fixed or determinable, services and products are provided to the customer
and collectibility is reasonably assured. The Company reduces revenue for estimated volume discounts and other allowances. The Company also
records deferred revenue primarily related to payments received in advance of revenue being earned under software licensing, maintenance and
support and other contractual agreements. Deferred revenue included in other current liabilities totaled $36.3 million as of March 31, 2008 and
$29.9 million as of December 31, 2007. In addition to the general policy discussed above, the following are the specific revenue recognition
policies for our major business lines and for multiple-element arrangements:

Information Services�Revenue for the P&C personal lines, public filing searches, employment background screening and drug testing, vital
records and other services in the Screening and Authentication Services and the Business Services segments is generally earned on a
transactional basis and recognized as the services are delivered. Revenue from non-transaction-based arrangements such as subscription licenses
and fixed fee arrangements is recognized over the period in which the customer is using the service. Provisions for bad debts are recognized
during the period in which they are estimable, and provisions for volume discounts are recognized during the period in which they are
applicable.

Software Services�Certain software revenues are generated primarily by transactions that include multiple-element arrangements encompassing
licensing software systems (consisting of software and maintenance support) and providing professional services. ChoicePoint allocates revenue
to each element of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined by vendor specific objective evidence (�VSOE�). VSOE of fair value for
all elements of an arrangement is based upon the normal pricing and discounting practices for those products and services when sold separately
and, for maintenance and support services, is additionally measured by the renewal rate offered to the customer. The Company defers revenue
for any undelivered elements, and recognizes revenue when the product is delivered or over the period in which the service is performed, in
accordance with its revenue recognition policy for such elements. If the fair value of any undelivered element included in bundled software and
service arrangements cannot be objectively determined, revenue is deferred until all elements are delivered and services have been performed, or
until fair value can objectively be determined for any remaining undelivered elements. When the fair value of a delivered element has not been
established, the residual method is used to record revenue if the fair value of all undelivered elements is determinable. Under the residual
method, the fair value of the undelivered elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is allocated to the delivered
elements and is recognized as revenue.

In some instances, perpetual software license arrangements require significant customization. These arrangements are accounted for under the
percentage of completion method based on estimates of the extent of progress toward completion. The Company estimates the percentage of
completion on contracts on a monthly basis utilizing estimated remaining hours to complete as a percentage of total estimated hours to complete
the project. Changes in estimates to complete and revisions in overall profit estimates are recognized in the period in which they are determined.

Marketing Services�Revenues in our teleservices, print and data fulfillment services are recognized when projects are completed and delivered
(typically within one month) in accordance with contractual terms. Certain database management services in our Marketing Services segment
represent hosting arrangements. The contracts for these services are in essence a periodic service agreement to provide database services to a
specific customer. The revenues and certain up-front costs related to these hosting arrangements are recognized ratably over the term of the
agreement in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 104, �Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,� and Emerging Issues Task Force
(�EITF�) Issue No. 00-3, �Application of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Arrangements That Include the Right to Use Software Stored on
Another Entity�s Hardware.�

Pass-Through Expense�The Company records certain revenue on a net basis since it has in essence �earned a commission or fee� for arranging the
delivery of a service ordered by a customer from a specified vendor and is not the primary obligor under the provisions of EITF Issue No. 99-19,
�Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Agent.� Motor vehicle records registry revenue (the fee charged by states for motor
vehicle records) and other fixed costs that are passed on by ChoicePoint to its customers (�pass-through expense�) are excluded from revenue and
recorded as a reduction to cost of revenue in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. The incidental fee charged by ChoicePoint to
provide this delivery service is reported as revenue. For the three months ended March 31, pass-through expense was $216.9 million in 2008 and
$214.7 million in 2007.

9
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Reimbursable Expenses�In accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-14, �Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for
�Out-of-Pocket� Expenses Incurred� (�EITF 01-14�), the Company presents certain reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses on a gross basis as revenues
and expenses. The application of EITF 01-14 has no impact on operating income, net income or earnings per share. Reimbursed materials,
shipping and postage charges in the Company�s Marketing Services segment for the three months ended March 31 totaled $3.5 million in 2008
and $4.9 million in 2007 and have been presented as revenues and expenses in the corresponding Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations (unaudited).

Income Taxes

ChoicePoint�s effective tax rate was 40.0% for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, compared to 38.1% for the quarter ended March 31, 2007. The
increase in the effective tax rate in 2008 is due primarily to the non-deductibility of certain charges incurred in connection with proposed
acquisition of ChoicePoint by Reed Elsevier, and the December 31, 2007 expiration of the Federal R&D Tax Credit. At March 31, 2008, accrued
income taxes increased to $27.4 million from $11.7 million at December 31, 2007, due to the tax provision for the three months ended
March 31, 2008 and the timing of tax payments.

5. Other Operating Charges

Other operating charges include the following:

Three Months ended
March 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Asset impairments $ 486 $ 279
Transaction-related expenses 2,044 �  
Lease abandonment, severance, and other expenses 1,440 311
Fraudulent data access related expense 99 567

Total other operating charges $ 4,069 $ 1,157

The Company recorded other operating charges of $4.1 million ($2.7 million net of taxes) during the first quarter of 2008, that included $2.0
million for transaction-related expenses associated with the Company�s pending sale to Reed Elsevier, and $2.1 million consisting primarily of
severance and asset impairment charges.

The Company recorded other operating charges of $1.2 million ($0.7 million net of taxes) during the first quarter of 2007 that included $0.6
million for lease abandonment, severance, and impairment charges associated with the consolidation of facilities, and $0.6 million for third party
expenses related to the previously disclosed fraudulent data access.

As of March 31, 2008, $7.2 million was accrued for obligations related to the above charges incurred to date that includes $3.6 million for legal
and other fees associated with the fraudulent data access, and $3.6 million related to severance and lease abandonment costs.

6. Discontinued Operations

On April 23, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to sell i2 in a cash purchase of $185 million, subject to certain pre-closing
adjustments based upon the net working capital of i2 at the closing. In March 2008, the Company completed the sale of its iMap business to a
private investment group for total net proceeds of $1.8 million. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed the sale of its Bode
business, BLJ businesses as well as substantially all of its EquiSearch businesses for total net proceeds of $27.9 million. The results of these
discontinued operations are reflected in the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued operations.
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The following amounts related to the above businesses have been segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as discontinued
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Total revenue $ 17,388 $ 27,046
Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ (5,863) $ 2,469
Gain on sale of discontinued operations 60 (381)
Income tax (provision) benefit 2,384 (734)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (3,419) $ 1,354

At March 31, 2008, the Company has classified certain assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued operations as assets of businesses
held for sale and liabilities of businesses held for sale in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with the guidance in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (�SFAS 144�).
The following table details the components of the assets and liabilities of businesses held for sale at March 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $612 $ 19,979
Other current assets 2,527
Property and equipment, net 2,615
Goodwill 94,882
Other acquisition intangible assets, net 14,010
Other assets, net 6,053

Total assets of businesses held for sale 140,066
Accounts payable 1,415
Accrued salaries and bonuses 1,080
Other current liabilities 29,327
Other long-term liabilities 2,502

Total liabilities of businesses held for sale 34,324

Total net assets of businesses held for sale $ 105,742

7. Debt and Other Financing

In 2006, the Company entered into a $600 million unsecured credit facility (the �Credit Facility�), which is expandable to $750 million. There was
$270.0 million outstanding under the Credit Facility at March 31, 2008, and $530.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2007. In addition,
approximately $10.5 million of the remaining availability under the Credit Facility was utilized for outstanding letters of credit. The Credit
Facility bears interest at either a base rate as defined in the Credit Facility or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margins range
from 0.28% to 0.60% per annum based on ChoicePoint�s funded debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
(�EBITDA�) ratio. Within the Credit Facility, the Company has a $50 million line of credit with a participating bank at either a base rate as
defined in the Credit Facility or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. At March 31, 2008 there were no borrowings outstanding under the line of
credit. The Credit Facility, including the line of credit, expires on October 25, 2011. The average interest rate based on the terms of the Credit
Facility was 3.3% at March 31, 2008.

The Credit Facility contains covenants customary for facilities of this type. Such covenants include limitations, in certain circumstances, on the
ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to (i) effect a change of control of the Company, (ii) incur certain types of liens, and (iii) transfer or
sell assets. The Credit Facility also requires compliance with financial covenants, including (i) maximum funded debt to EBITDA and
(ii) minimum interest coverage. We have maintained compliance with these financial covenants.
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On January 14, 2008, the Company entered into a $300 million five-year unsecured Term Loan Credit Agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) with
many of the same lenders that are party to the Credit Facility. Fees incurred in connection with
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the agreement totaled approximately $1.0 million, and are being amortized over the term of the agreement. All amounts borrowed under the
Credit Agreement were used to repay amounts outstanding under the Company�s existing Credit Facility. There was $292.5 million outstanding
under the Credit Agreement at March 31, 2008. ChoicePoint and its material subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement) that are U.S.
subsidiaries are guarantors of the obligations. The Credit Agreement bears interest at either a base rate as defined in the Credit Agreement or
LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margins range from 1.000% to 1.375% per annum based on ChoicePoint�s funded debt to
EBITDA ratio. The Credit Agreement contains covenants customary for this type of facility and the loans made under the Credit Agreement will
mature on January 14, 2013. The average interest rate based on the terms of the Credit Agreement was 4.2% at March 31, 2008.

In 2001, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an agreement (the �Receivables Facility�) with a financial institution whereby it
may sell on a continuous basis, an undivided interest in all eligible trade accounts receivable subject to limitations. The Company will maintain
the balance in the designated pool of accounts receivable sold by selling undivided interests in new receivables as existing receivables are
collected. The Receivables Facility permits the advance of up to $125 million on the sale of accounts receivable. Currently, the Receivables
Facility is payable in June 2008, but may be extended in one-year terms. Net proceeds from the Receivables Facility were $11.3 million at
March 31, 2008, and $80.0 million at December 31, 2007. The average interest rate based on the terms of the Receivables Facility was 4.4% at
March 31, 2008.

At March 31, 2008, the Company had $440.7 million of available capacity under the above facilities. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt
subsequent to March 31, 2008 are as follows: $11.3 million in 2008, $270.0 million in 2011, and $292.5 million in 2013.

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company entered into a $12.5 million synthetic lease agreement for a new property. Under this synthetic
lease agreement, a third-party lessor purchased the property and paid for the build-out of the property completed in December 2006. The $12.5
million synthetic lease expires in 2012. On December 8, 2006, the Company entered into a $25.2 million synthetic lease agreement for its
headquarters building and a $46.2 million synthetic lease agreement for its data center facility. These agreements replaced the existing
agreements that were due to expire in 2007 and 2008. The new lease agreements expire in 2012, at which time the Company has the following
options for each lease: renew the lease for an additional five years, purchase the building for the original cost or sell the property itself
(remarket). If the Company elects to remarket the property, it must guarantee the lessor 80% to 85% of the original cost.

The Company has accounted for the synthetic leases as operating leases and has recorded rent expense. If the Company had elected to purchase
the properties instead of entering into the synthetic leases, total assets and debt would have increased by $83.9 million at March 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 and it would have recorded additional depreciation expense related to the synthetic leases of approximately $0.8 million
($0.5 million after tax) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007.

Derivative financial instruments at March 31, 2008 consist of four interest rate swap agreements entered into to reduce the impact of changes in
a benchmark interest rate (LIBOR) on the Company�s LIBOR-based payments on the Company�s synthetic leases and Credit Facility
(collectively, the �Swap Agreements�). At March 31, 2008, the total notional amount under these Swap Agreements was $283.9 million,
consisting of the $12.5 million, $25.2 million, and $46.2 million swap agreements related to the synthetic lease agreements discussed above, and
$200.0 million related to the Credit Facility. The Swap Agreements involve the receipt of a variable rate and payment by ChoicePoint of fixed
rates of 4.9%. The swap agreements which relate to the company�s synthetic leases mature in January 2012, and the swap agreement related to
the Credit Facility matures in October 2011. The Company has designated all of these swaps as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected
future interest payments on the Company�s aggregate $83.9 million in synthetic leases and $200 million of the amount outstanding on the Credit
Facility. Amounts currently due to or from interest rate swap counterparties are recorded as expense in the period in which they accrue. The
Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Company is exposed to credit loss in the
event of nonperformance by the other parties to the Swap Agreements. However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by the
counterparties. As of March 31, 2008, the fair value of the outstanding interest rate swap agreements was a liability of $20.1 million, which is
included in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, and has been recorded net of taxes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company de-designated and terminated its swap agreements with a combined notional amount of $67
million that existed at December 31, 2006, replacing them with the Swap Agreements. The interest rate swaps were being used to hedge the
variability in expected future interest payments on $67 million of the Company�s
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LIBOR �based payments under its synthetic leases. The termination resulted in a net cash receipt of $0.2 million from the swap�s counterparties.

8. Earnings Per Share and Stock-Based Compensation

Earnings Per Share�The Company has computed basic and diluted earnings per share using the treasury stock method. For the three months ended
March 31, 2008 and 2007, options outstanding to purchase approximately 2.9 million and 3.4 million shares of common stock respectively, were
not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices of the options were greater than the average market
price of the Company�s common stock during the applicable quarter, and the effect of including them in such computation would be anti-dilutive.

Stock Options�On April 25, 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved the ChoicePoint Inc. 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the �2006
Omnibus Plan�). Under the 2006 Omnibus Plan, as amended in May 2007, up to 2,700,000 shares of the Company�s common stock may be issued
pursuant to awards granted thereunder, with limitations on specific kinds of awards that may be issued or transferred, or in payment of dividend
equivalents paid with respect to such awards. A variety of discretionary awards for officers, directors and full-time employees of ChoicePoint,
and others who render significant services are authorized under the 2006 Omnibus Plan, including incentive and non-qualified stock options,
restricted shares, deferred shares, share equivalent units, tandem appreciation rights and/or free-standing appreciation rights, performance shares
and performance units. The vesting of such awards may be conditioned upon either a specified period of service or the attainment of certain
performance goals as determined by the Management Compensation and Benefits Committee of the Company�s Board of Directors. Option
exercise prices are set at the closing price of ChoicePoint�s common stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant, and option
terms do not exceed seven years.

A summary of changes in all outstanding options, the weighted average exercise price per share, the weighted average remaining contractual
term, and the aggregate intrinsic value as of March 31, 2008 and changes during the three months then ended is as follows (shares and aggregate
intrinsic value in thousands):

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding, December 31, 2007 9,894 $ 34.95
Granted �  �  
Canceled/forfeited (147) 39.14
Exercised (469) 36.04

Outstanding, March 31, 2008 9,278 $ 34.82 4.3 $ 118,547
Vested and expected to vest, March 31, 2008 9,129 $ 34.74 4.3 $ 117,399
Exercisable, March 31, 2008 5,829 $ 31.41 3.7 $ 94,352

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2008 (shares in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Shares

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Life in Years

Weighted Average
Exercise
Price Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise
Price

$12.094 � $ 18.448 841 0.8 $ 13.95 841 $ 13.95
$18.449 � $ 23.060 705 1.8 19.09 705 19.09
$23.061 � $ 27.672 1,004 2.8 26.00 1,004 26.00
$27.673 � $ 36.896 1,082 4.5 33.25 614 33.02
$36.897 � $ 39.889 2,744 5.2 38.59 1,049 38.66
$39.890 � $ 45.750 1,951 4.7 44.10 1,052 42.74
$45.751 � $ 46.120 951 6.8 46.12 564 46.12

9,278 $ 34.82 5,829 $ 31.41
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the quarter ended March 31 was $4.8 million in 2008 and $37.5 million in 2007.

Other Stock-Based Awards�On a periodic basis, certain key officers, employees, and directors of the Company are granted restricted shares under
the above plans. During the three months ended March 31, 2008, 228,950 shares were awarded with a weighted average market value at the date
of grant of $33.75 per share. During the same period of 2007, 147,000 shares were awarded with a weighted average market value per share of
$39.04. Also on a periodic basis, certain key officers are awarded deferred shares under the above plans. No deferred shares were granted during
the first quarter of 2008 or 2007. Upon initial election to the board of directors, and then annually, each non-employee director of the Company
receives an award of share equivalent units. Additionally, certain key employees may be granted share equivalent units under the above plans.
During the three months ended March 31, 2007, 6,000 share equivalent units were granted to certain key employees at market value on the date
of grant of $39.04 per unit. No share equivalent units were granted during the first quarter of 2008. The market value of the restricted shares,
deferred shares and share equivalent units is being charged to expense over the vesting periods through February 2011. The pre-tax
compensation cost charged against income for these awards was $2.5 million ($1.5 million net of tax) during the first quarter of 2008, and $2.1
million ($1.3 million net of tax) during the first quarter of 2007.

Additionally, on a periodic basis, certain key officers are granted phantom shares under the ChoicePoint Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan.
During the three months ended March 31, 2007, 117,000 shares were awarded with a weighted average market value at the date of grant of
$39.04 per share. The market value of the phantom shares is being charged to expense over the vesting periods through February 2010. The
pre-tax compensation cost charged against income for these awards for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 was $0.4 million and
$0.2 million respectively. No phantom shares were granted during the first quarter of 2008.

A summary of the beginning and ending balance of the Company�s restricted shares, deferred shares, phantom shares, and share equivalent units
as of March 31, 2008, and changes during the three months ended March 31, 2008, is presented below:

Shares/Units
Weighted Average

Grant-Date Fair Value
Balance at December 31, 2007 966,189 $ 40.94
Granted 228,950 33.75
Vested (96,875) 43.93
Forfeited (11,350) 40.55

Balance at March 31, 2008 1,086,914 $ 39.16

The fair value of shares vested during the quarter ended March 31 was $3.3 million in 2008 and $1.4 million in 2007.

As of March 31, 2008, there was approximately $12.8 million in total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted shares, $5.7 million
related to deferred shares, $2.9 million related to phantom shares, and $0.8 million related to share equivalent units. That cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years for restricted shares, 2.1 years for deferred shares, 2.1 years for phantom shares, and 0.7
years for share equivalent units.

A summary of the expense recognized for stock options and other stock-based awards during the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007,
is presented below (in thousands):

Three months ended
March 31, 2008

Three months ended
March 31, 2007

Stock
Options

Other
Stock-Based
Awards

Total
Stock-Based
Compensation

Stock
Options

Other
Stock-Based
Awards

Total
Stock-Based
Compensation

Cost of revenue $ 863 $ �  $ 863 $ 875 $ �  $ 875
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 1,470 2,920 4,390 2,368 2,292 4,660
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Expense, net of tax $ 2,147 $ 1,767 $ 3,914 $ 2,715 $ 1,421 $ 4,136
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Under ChoicePoint�s stock incentive plans, employees may surrender stock-based awards or shares of the Company�s common stock to the
Company in payment of minimum tax obligations due upon the exercise of options or upon the vesting of grants of other stock based awards.
During the three months ended March 31, 2007, employees surrendered 341,224 options, respectively, upon the exercise of stock options in
payment of such minimum tax obligations. No such options were surrendered during the three months ended March 31, 2008. Additionally,
during the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, employees surrendered 387 and 14,291 shares, respectively, to the Company upon the
vesting of restricted shares in payment of such minimum tax obligations. The value of the awards was based on the market price on the date of
surrender for an aggregate value of $13,000 or $33.76 per share, for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and $13.8 million, or $38.75 per
share, for the three months ended March 31, 2007.

The Company adopted SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment (�SFAS 123(R)�) effective January 1, 2006. SFAS 123(R) requires companies to
apply a fair value method of measurement for all share-based payment transactions with employees, including stock options, and to recognize
these transactions in the financial statements. The Company adopted SFAS 123(R) using the modified prospective application, which applies to
all grants after the effective date and to any unvested portion of grants issued prior to the effective date or implementation date. The related
compensation cost is expensed over the vesting period using the straight-line method for awards with cliff vesting or using the accelerated
attribution method for awards with graded vesting.

The fair value of stock options granted in 2007 was determined on the grant date using assumptions for the expected term, expected volatility,
dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate. The term assumption was primarily based on the seven year contractual term of the options and
historical data related to exercise and post-vesting cancellation history experienced by the Company, which is expected to be similar to future
results. The Company�s anticipated volatility level is based on the combination of implied market volatility and ChoicePoint�s long-term historical
volatility. The Company�s model includes a zero dividend yield assumption, as the Company has not historically paid nor does it anticipate
paying dividends on its common stock. The Company�s model does not include a discount for post-vesting restrictions, as the Company has not
issued awards with such restrictions. The risk free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve over the expected term of the
option. The periodic expense is then determined based on the valuation of the options, and at that time an estimated forfeiture rate is used to
reduce the expense recorded. The Company�s estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures is primarily based on the historical experience of the Company
and is adjusted to reflect actual forfeitures as the options vest.

The modified prospective approach requires that the Company expense over the remaining vesting period the value it previously calculated
under the fair value method for stock options granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R). As of March 31, 2008, there was approximately
$11.4 million in total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average
period of 2.2 years.

9. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income and its components are presented in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders� Equity (unaudited).
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
(In thousands) 2008 2007
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment $ 3,127 $ 2,890
Cash flow hedges (11,922) (5,654)
Deferred postretirement gain 3,071 3,071
Other 79 79

Total $ (5,645) $ 386

10. Acquisition

In the first quarter of 2008, the Company acquired Optimal Decisions Group, a firm that develops and deploys advanced analytics and software
to the insurance industry. The total purchase price of the acquisition was $11 million ($6.2 million net of cash acquired). In addition, a working
capital adjustment to the purchase price is expected later in 2008. Goodwill of $6.7 million was allocated to the Insurance Services segment. The
allocation of purchase price to the assets and liabilities of the acquisition is preliminary and subject to change based on the
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acquired asset valuations. The pro forma effect of this acquisition is not material to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The Company did not acquire any businesses during the first quarter of 2007. As of March 31, 2008, ChoicePoint has approximately $0.6
million accrued for transaction-related costs, including legal and audit costs related to the 2008 and prior acquisitions.

11. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

A summary of the change in goodwill during the three months ended March 31, 2008, is as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2007
Acquisitions and
Adjustments

Other
Changes

March 31,
2008

Insurance Services $ 89,511 $ 6,674(a) $ 195(b) $ 96,380
Screening and Authentication Services 320,314 �  �  320,314
Business Services 161,061 44 �  161,105
Government Services �  �  �  �  
Marketing Services 13,977 �  �  13,977

Total $ 584,863 $ 6,718 $ 195 $ 591,776

(a) This amount represents the acquisition of ODG, which was acquired in January 2008.
(b) Effect of foreign currency translation on goodwill.

As of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, the Company�s other acquisition intangible assets and accumulated amortization consisted of the
following:

As of March 31, 2008 As of December 31, 2007

(In thousands) Gross
Accumulated
Amortization Net Gross

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer relationships $ 46,278 $ (33,093) $ 13,185 $ 40,578 $ (26,301) $ 14,277
Purchased data files 18,980 (4,628) 14,352 18,280 (3,669) 14,611
Software 31,552 (19,515) 12,037 27,913 (17,807) 10,106
Non-compete agreements 12,817 (9,772) 3,045 11,917 (8,405) 3,512
Trademarks/trade names 11,600 �  11,600 11,600 �  11,600
Other intangible assets 8,688 (8,176) 512 8,688 (8,131) 557

Total $ 129,915 $ (75,184) $ 54,731 $ 118,976 $ (64,313) $ 54,663

The Company recorded amortization expense related to these other acquisition intangibles excluding indefinite life assets such as
trademarks/trade names for the three months ended March 31, 2008 of $2.8 million, compared to $3.2 million for the comparable period of
2007. Estimated full-year amortization expense for the next five years is $10.4 million for 2008, $8.4 million for 2009, $6.3 million for 2010,
$3.9 million for 2011 and $2.4 million for 2012.

12. Capital Transactions

On July 26, 2005, ChoicePoint�s Board of Directors approved a stock buyback program for the repurchase of up to $250 million of Company
stock. During 2006, ChoicePoint�s Board of Directors approved increases to the value of the Company�s buyback program up to a total of $725
million. During 2007, the Board of Directors further increased the value of the Company�s buyback program by $300 million to a total value of
$1.025 billion. The Board of Directors also extended the buyback program an additional two years, through August 19, 2009. On January 29,
2008, the Company�s Board of Directors further increased the value of the Company�s buyback program by $300 million up to a total value of
$1.325 billion.
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The Company did not repurchase any shares of its common stock during the first quarter of 2008. Since the inception of the stock buyback
program, the Company has repurchased a total of 25.5 million shares for $982.5 million, leaving $342.5 million available for repurchase in the
program as of March 31, 2008.

16

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 25



Table of Contents

13. Segment Disclosures

As previously indicated, during 2007 the Company decided to divest its iMap business and i2, the software portion of its Government Services
segment. In connection with this decision in 2007, the Company combined the remaining components of its Government Services segment with
its Financial and Professional Services Segment. This newly formed segment has been renamed the Business Services Segment and now
includes virtually all of the Company�s businesses involved in the sale of non-FCRA regulated public information to customers in all markets,
including banking, professional services and government. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

ChoicePoint�s continuing operations are focused on four primary markets�Insurance Services, Screening and Authentication Services, Business
Services and Marketing Services that constitute its four reportable segments. Management evaluates the performance of its segments exclusive
of other operating charges (Note 5). Sales and transfers between segments are generally accounted for at cost plus a reasonable profit; the effects
of inter-segment sales are immaterial to the computation of segment profit. See Note 1 for a description of each reportable segment.

Revenues and operating income for the three months ending March 31, 2008 and 2007 for the four segments are presented below.

Three months ended
March 31, 2008

Three months ended
March 31, 2007

(In thousands) Revenue
Operating
Income Revenue

Operating
Income

Insurance Services $ 142,686 $ 72,024 $ 125,282 $ 65,179
Screening and Authentication Services 62,319 10,401 61,438 10,067
Business Services 35,887 1,392 35,697 940
Marketing Services
Service revenue 12,015 (1,091) 17,200 1,197
Reimbursable expenses 3,539 �  4,859 �  

Total Marketing Services 15,554 (1,091) 22,059 1,197
Corporate and shared (a) �  (21,740) �  (16,585)
Stock-based compensation (b) �  (5,253) �  (5,535)
Other operating charges (c) �  (4,069) �  (1,157)

Totals $ 256,446 $ 51,664 $ 244,476 $ 54,106

Assets

(In thousands)
March 31,
2008

December 31,
2007

Insurance Services $ 277,422 $ 235,415
Screening and Authentication Services 380,887 371,306
Business Services 296,826 283,713
Marketing Services 77,478 76,977
Unallocated & Other (d) 93,618 100,849
Assets Held for Sale 140,066 146,590

Total $ 1,266,297 $ 1,214,850
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Depreciation & Amortization
Three Months Ended

March 31,
(In thousands) 2008 2007
Insurance Services $ 4,652 $ 4,154
Screening and Authentication Services 3,947 3,730
Business Services 3,150 4,533
Marketing Services 1,077 1,340
Unallocated & Other (d) 1,998 2,343

Total $ 14,824 $ 16,100

(a) Corporate and shared expenses benefit all segments and include the following:

Q1 2008 Q1 2007
Group Centers $ 10,856 $ 11,201
Third-Party Legal, Audit, and Tax Costs 3,718 1,852
Incentive Compensation/ Benefits 6,407 3,162
Other 759 370

Total $ 21,740 $ 16,585
Group centers include functions such as finance, accounting, audit, legal, credentialing, executives, facilities, purchasing, marketing, human
resources and select technology costs. Total headcount related to these functions was 183 at March 31, 2008 and 190 at March 31, 2007.

(b) Stock-based compensation includes the following components:

Three months ended March 31,
2008 2007

Stock option expense $ 2,333 $ 3,243
Restricted stock expense 2,920 2,292

Total $ 5,253 $ 5,535

See Note 8 for a more complete description of stock-based compensation.

(c) The Company has presented analysis above with and with out these items because they represent costs that management excludes in its
assessments of operating results. See Note 5 for a description of other operating charges.

(d) Unallocated & Other includes certain corporate items that are not allocated to the segments.
14. Fair Value Measurement

The Company adopted SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�SFAS 157�), on January 1, 2008. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Our adoption of SFAS 157 was limited to financial
assets and liabilities, which primarily relate to our derivative contracts. The fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements under
SFAS 157 is as follows:
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Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable

Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)
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The following table summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2008, as required by SFAS 157:

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments $ �  $ �  $ �  
Liabilities
Interest rate swap $ �  $ 20,053 $ �  

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company entered into four interest rate swap agreements to receive variable rate interest and pay fixed rate
interest of 4.9%. The Company has designated all of these swap agreements as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected future interest
payments on the Company�s aggregate $83.9 million in synthetic leases and $200 million of the amount outstanding on the Credit Facility. The
swap agreements which relate to the company�s synthetic leases mature in January 2012, and the swap agreement related to the Credit Facility
matures in October 2011.

The fair values of the Company�s interest rate swap agreements are based on quoted market prices for similar liabilities or determined using
inputs that use as their basis readily observable market data that are actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, including
third-party pricing services, brokers, and market transactions.

15. Employee Benefits

The Company has agreed to provide certain retiree health care and life insurance benefits for a defined group of eligible employees. Health care
and life insurance benefits are provided through a trust. The Company accrues the cost of providing postretirement benefits for medical and life
insurance coverage over the active service period of each employee, net of the estimated amount of participant contributions. These
postretirement benefit plans are unfunded. The accounting for the health care plans anticipates future cost-sharing changes to the written plans
that are consistent with the Company�s expressed intent to increase retiree contributions equal to a percentage of health care costs increases. The
Company uses December 31 as the measurement date for these plans. The following table presents the components of the net periodic benefit
costs related to these plans:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Service cost $ 10 $ 13
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation 291 316
Amortization of net gain (57) (60)
Amortization of prior service cost (83) (29)

Net periodic postretirement benefit expense $ 161 $ 240

Deferred Compensation Plan�ChoicePoint offers deferred compensation plans to directors and certain officers of the Company. Under these
plans, amounts earned by an officer or director may be deferred and credited with gains and losses based upon four different investment
alternatives, including ChoicePoint common stock. The corresponding deferred compensation liability is recorded at the current fair value of the
individual�s investment elections and any changes are recorded as expense in the period incurred. As of March 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007,
the Company has recorded a liability of $22.5 million and $22.4 million, respectively, which is included in other long-term liabilities in the
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited).

16. New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued FSP No. FAS 157-2, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157,
�Fair Value Measurements,� for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in
the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). Nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities would include all assets and
liabilities other than those meeting the definition of a financial asset or financial liability as defined in paragraph 6 of SFAS No. 159, �The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.� This FASB Staff Position defers the effective date of Statement 157 to
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fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP No. FAS 157-2.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), �Business Combinations� (�SFAS 141(R)�), which replaces SFAS No. 141,
�Business Combinations.� SFAS 141(R) retains the underlying concepts of SFAS 141 in that all business combinations are still required to be
accounted for at fair value under the acquisition method of accounting but SFAS 141(R) changed the method of applying the acquisition method
in a number of significant aspects. Acquisition costs will generally be expensed as incurred; noncontrolling interests will be valued at fair value
at the acquisition date; in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition
date; restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be expensed subsequent to the acquisition date; and changes in
deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. SFAS
141(R) is effective on a prospective basis for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008, with the exception of the accounting for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired
tax contingencies. SFAS 141(R) amends SFAS 109 such that adjustments made to valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax
contingencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the effective date of SFAS 141(R) would also apply the provisions of SFAS
141(R). Early adoption is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the effects, if any, that SFAS 141(R) may have on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, �Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements�an amendment of ARB
No. 51� (�SFAS 160�). This statement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15,
2008, with earlier adoption prohibited. This statement requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the
condensed consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent�s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling
interest will be included in condensed consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. It also amends certain of Accounting
Research Bulletin No. 51�s consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of SFAS 141(R). This statement also includes
expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest. We are currently evaluating the effects that
SFAS 160 may have on our financial statements.

17. Commitments and Contingencies

Below is a description of the Company�s material pending legal proceedings. While the ultimate resolution of the matters discussed below cannot
presently be determined, an unfavorable outcome in these cases could have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial condition or
results of operations.

Class Action Litigation

Fresco Litigation. A class action lawsuit against the Company was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida on
August 11, 2003 (Fresco, et al. v. Automotive Directions Inc., et al.) alleging that the Company obtained, disclosed and used information
obtained from the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (�Florida DHSMV�) in violation of the federal Drivers Privacy
Protection Act (�DPPA�). In their complaint, the plaintiffs seek to represent classes of individuals whose personal information from Florida
DHSMV records has been obtained, disclosed and used for marketing purposes or other allegedly impermissible uses by the Company without
the express written consent of the individual. A number of the Company�s competitors have also been sued in the same or similar litigation in
Florida. This complaint seeks certification as a class action, compensatory damages, attorneys� fees and costs, and injunctive and other relief.
After vigorously defending against the action, the defendants engaged in court ordered mediation beginning in February 2006. A proposed
settlement agreement was filed with the court on December 20, 2006, on behalf of the Plaintiffs and all but two of the named defendants. On
May 11, 2007, the District Court entered orders which, among other things: (1) granted preliminary approval of the proposed class action
settlement; (2) certified the conditional nationwide class; (3) denied the motion of the Texas plaintiffs (referenced below) to intervene in Fresco
; and (4) granted an injunction to maintain the status quo, which prohibits the Texas action (referenced below) from moving forward. On
May 11, 2007, the Texas intervenors and the putative class members in the Texas case filed a notice of appeal with respect to the denial of the
motion for limited intervention and the granting of the temporary injunction. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit issued
an order dated June 6, 2007, questioning whether it has jurisdiction over the appeal. The interested parties have submitted briefs to the Court of
Appeals responding to this question. On September 24, 2007, the Court of Appeals issued an Order declining jurisdiction of the Texas
Interveners� Motion to Intervene and finding that it did have jurisdiction to decide permissibility of the preliminary approval Order�s injunction
against pursuing related proceedings in other Courts. The Court denied the Fresco Plaintiffs� Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Sanctions with
respect to the Texas Interveners� Motion to Stay. On October 24, 2007,
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the District Court held the final approval hearing on the proposed class action settlement. The Court has not yet issued a ruling. The Company
believes that any additional liability which may result from the resolution of this action in excess of the amounts to be paid pursuant to the
settlement agreement with the Fresco plaintiffs will not have a material effect on the financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows of
the Company.

Taylor Litigation. On January 5, 2007, a purported class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of its competitors in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Taylor v. Acxiom Corporation, on behalf of each and every individual in the State
of Texas whose name, address, driver identification number, and certain other identifiers are contained in motor vehicle records obtained by the
defendants from the Texas Department of Public Safety without the express consent of the individual during the period from June 1, 2000,
through the date of judgment. The plaintiff also filed pleadings seeking to intervene in the Fresco litigation and objecting to the proposed
settlement agreement for such litigation. The ruling on such pleadings is addressed above. On February 8, 2007, the Company filed a motion to
dismiss the Taylor litigation based on the fact that Fresco was first-filed, the nationwide class in Fresco encompasses the Texas class, and
reasons of judicial economy and fundamental fairness dictate against duplicative class actions in federal courts. The Taylor litigation is currently
enjoined from proceeding pursuant to the District Court�s order issued in the Fresco litigation, discussed above.

Fraudulent Data Access

The Company�s response to the 2004 fraudulent data access and other similar incidents requiring notification of consumers is ongoing. The
Company is involved in legal proceedings that relate to these matters. Regardless of the merits and ultimate outcome of this litigation,
proceedings of this type are expensive and will require substantial Company resources and executive time. The Company believes that there
could be other instances that may result in notification to consumers. As previously stated, the Company intends for consumers to be notified, in
accordance with current state law requirements, and in accordance with ChoicePoint policy, if it is determined that their sensitive personally
identifiable information has been acquired by unauthorized parties. The Company does not believe that the impact from notifying affected
consumers will be material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

FTC and State Attorneys General Investigations. In February 2006, the Company reached a settlement with the FTC regarding its investigation
into the Company�s compliance with federal laws governing consumer information security and related issues, including the fraudulent data
access that occurred in 2004. As part of the settlement, the Company was required to submit a report to the FTC within 180 days of the
settlement evidencing compliance with the terms of the settlement. On February 20, 2008, the Company received a letter from the FTC notifying
the Company that after reviewing such report, the Enforcement Division of the FTC was not recommending any enforcement action to the FTC.
The settlement requires the Company to obtain every two years until 2026, an assessment from a qualified, independent third-party professional
to ensure that the Company�s information security program meets the standards of the settlement. Effective June 5, 2007, the Company also
entered into an Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and Discontinuance with the Attorneys General of 43 states and the District of Columbia.

SEC Investigation. The Company received notice from the SEC on May 12, 2005, that it was conducting an investigation into the circumstances
surrounding any possible identity theft, trading in the Company�s stock by its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and related
matters. The Company cooperated with the SEC and provided the requested information and documents. On January 18, 2008, the staff of the
SEC notified the Company by letter that the staff had completed its investigation and was not recommending any enforcement action by the
SEC.

In re ChoicePoint Inc. Securities Litigation. On March 4, 2005, a purchaser of the Company�s securities filed a lawsuit against the Company and
certain of its officers in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated
federal securities laws by issuing false or misleading information in connection with the fraudulent data access. Additional complaints alleging
substantially similar claims have been filed by other purchasers of the Company�s securities in the Central District of California on March 10,
2005, and in the Northern District of Georgia on March 11, 2005, March 22, 2005, and March 24, 2005. By court order, the cases pending in the
Central District of California have been transferred to the Northern District of Georgia. By order dated August 5, 2005, the court consolidated
each of the pending cases into a single consolidated action, In re ChoicePoint Inc. Securities Litigation, 1:05-CV-00686. A consolidated
amended complaint was filed on January 13, 2006, and seeks certification as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages, attorneys�
fees, costs, and other relief. On March 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On November 21,
2006, the court entered an order denying the defendants� motion to dismiss. Thereafter, defendants moved the court to certify its order for
immediate review. The court granted that motion on January 10, 2007. On January 25, 2007, the defendants filed a petition asking the United
States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit to allow them to appeal on an interlocutory basis. On May 3,
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2007, the defendants� petition was denied. As a result, the District Court re-opened the case. Based on the subsequent U.S. Supreme Court
decision in Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., which requires District Courts to consider competing inferences of scienter rather than
just those most favorable to a plaintiff, the Company filed a renewed motion to dismiss.

On January 15, 2008, the Company entered into a Letter of Understanding pursuant to which the parties to the litigation would, subject to notice
to the class, court approval and certain other conditions, settle all claims. The Company and the other defendants do not admit to any liability by
the Company or such defendants. Under the terms of the Letter of Understanding, the Company will pay $10 million to the plaintiffs, subject to
court approval. On March 7, 2008, the parties filed the Stipulation of Settlement and accompanying documents with the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia. On March 24, 2008, the court issued an Order preliminarily approving the settlement and setting the
Final Fairness Hearing for June 12, 2008. The Company anticipates that the settlement as outlined in the Letter of Understanding will have no
effect on the Company�s financial results as the Company had previously reserved funds to pay for the portion of the settlement amount not
covered by insurance.

Mellott Litigation. On May 20, 2005, a purported class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia against the Company and certain individuals who are alleged to be fiduciaries under the ChoicePoint Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan
(the �Plan�), Curtis R. Mellott v. ChoicePoint Inc., et al., 1:05-CV-1340. The suit alleges violations of ERISA fiduciary rules through the
acquisition and retention of the Company�s stock by the Plan on and after November 24, 2004. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, injunctive
and equitable relief, attorneys� fees and costs. On April 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which the court granted on March 7,
2007, disposing of the case in its entirety. On March 21, 2007, plaintiffs filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied on June 18, 2007.
On July 12, 2007, Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, which was docketed on
July 16, 2007.

On November 21, 2007, a Settlement Agreement was signed by all parties to the litigation and filed with the District Court. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to the following equitable relief: (a) Plan participants will retain the right through December 31, 2010,
to diversify freely out of the Company�s matching contribution made in the Company�s common stock; (b) the Company�s matching contribution
will be at least 25% for three years; (c) the Company will continue its current investment education program for three years; and (d) the
Company will post language on its intranet site for three years that will advise participants to give careful consideration of the benefits of a
well-balanced and diversified investment portfolio. In addition, the Company agreed to pay $10,000 to the named plaintiff, attorneys� fees and
costs in the amount of $100,000, costs of settlement notices to the class as well as costs of settlement administration, and costs to retain an
independent fiduciary for settlement review and approval on behalf of Plan participants. On December 6, 2007, the Company filed a Joint
Motion for Preliminary Approval of the Class Action Settlement with the District Court and on December 11, 2007, the Company filed its Joint
Motion to Stay Appeal Pending Review and Approval of Settlement with the District Court. On March 21, 2008, ChoicePoint filed a Joint
Motion asking the Eleventh Circuit to remand the Appeal for the limited purpose of the District Court effectuating the Settlement. On March 28,
2008, the Company filed a Joint Motion with the District Court seeking to vacate the dismissal of the litigation and to reinstate the litigation in
order to give the Judge jurisdiction to review and approve the settlement. On April 25, 2008, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh
Circuit granted our Joint Motion and remanded the Appeal to the District Court for the limited purpose of considering motions for the approval
of the settlement of the litigation.

Other Litigation

The Company also is involved in other litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of its business. The Company provides for estimated
legal fees and settlements relating to pending lawsuits when they are probable and reasonably estimable. The Company does not believe that the
outcome of any such pending or threatened litigation in the ordinary course of business will have a material adverse effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the Company. However, as is inherent in legal proceedings where issues may be decided by finders of fact,
there is a risk that unpredictable decisions adverse to the Company could be reached.
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction

The Company is a leading provider of identification and credential verification services. The Company provides businesses and non-profit
organizations with technology, software, information and marketing services, all intended to help manage economic risks, as well as identify
business opportunities. For more information, visit the Company�s Web site at www.choicepoint.com.

ChoicePoint�s strategic vision is to help its customers mitigate economic risk by leveraging our unique market knowledge and competencies
while driving profitable growth through market strength. The Company is continuing to expand its data distribution, data gathering and
technological capabilities, and believes that it is positioned to offer a variety of new products to a diverse set of industries. The Company intends
to accomplish its goals by expanding its presence in business markets, pursuing strategic alliances, developing and enhancing key technological
capabilities, developing new products and services and maintaining solid financial performance.

During 2007, the Company decided to divest its iMap business and i2, the software portion of its former Government Services segment. In
connection with the Company�s decision to divest i2, the Company combined the remaining components of its Government Services segment
with its Financial and Professional Services segment. This newly-formed segment was renamed the Business Services segment and includes
virtually all of the Company�s businesses involved in the sale of non-FCRA regulated public information to customers in all markets, including
banking, professional services and government. Prior periods have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Consequently,
the results of these discontinued operations for such completed fiscal years are reflected in the Company�s Condensed Condensed Consolidated
Statements of Income as discontinued operations. Cash flows related to discontinued operations are stated separately from cash flows related to
continuing operations by category in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. As a result, and unless specifically stated, all
discussions regarding the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007 reflect results only from continuing operations. ChoicePoint�s continuing
operations are focused on four primary markets�Insurance Services, Screening and Authentication Services, Business Services and Marketing
Services.

On April 23, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to sell i2 in a cash purchase of $185 million, subject to certain pre-closing and
post-closing adjustments based upon the net working capital of i2 at the closing. In March 2008, the Company completed the sale of its iMap
business to a private investment group for total net proceeds of $1.8 million. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed the sale of
its Bode business, BLJ businesses as well as substantially all of its EquiSearch businesses. The results of these discontinued operations are
reflected in the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued operations.

Proposed Merger with Reed Elsevier

On February 20, 2008, ChoicePoint entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the �Merger Agreement�), by and among ChoicePoint, Reed
Elsevier Group plc (�Reed Elsevier�) and Deuce Acquisition Inc., under which ChoicePoint would be acquired by Reed Elsevier. The transaction
has a total value of approximately $4.1 billion, based on an offer of $50.00 per share and the assumption of approximately $600 million of net
debt.

On April 16, 2008 at a special meeting of the shareholders of the Company, ChoicePoint shareholders voted to approve the Merger Agreement.
More than 99.5 percent of all votes cast were voted in favor of the transaction. The consummation of the transaction remains subject to receipt of
required regulatory approval and satisfaction of customary closing conditions as described in the merger agreement.

On April 29, 2008, the Company announced that it and Reed Elsevier have received a request for additional information from the Federal Trade
Commission (the �FTC�) regarding the proposed merger between the companies. In addition, the companies have been notified of parallel reviews
by the attorneys general of certain states. The FTC information request was issued under notification requirements of the Hart- Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended. The companies intend to cooperate fully and respond expeditiously to the FTC.

Reed Elsevier and the Company submitted a Notice of the proposed transaction to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States
(�CFIUS�) pursuant to the Exon-Florio provisions of the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended. On May 2, 2008, the Department of the
Treasury, which is reviewing the parties� Notice on behalf of CFIUS, notified the parties that it would not be able to complete its review of their
CFIUS filing by May 5, 2008, which is the

23

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 34



Table of Contents

expiration date of the Department of Treasury�s 30-day review period. The parties withdrew their Notice on May 5, 2008, and intend to refile in
the near future, which will commence another 30-day review period.

We expect that the transaction will close later in the year.

Results of Operations �2008 vs. 2007 Consolidated Comparisons

Revenue

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007 Change
Total revenue $ 256,446 $ 244,476 5%
Reimbursable expenses per EITF 01-14 (3,539) (4,859)

Service revenue $ 252,907 $ 239,617 6%

Total revenue for the first quarter of 2008 increased 5%, or $12.0 million, to $256.4 million compared to the first quarter of 2007, primarily as a
result of continued strong growth in the Insurance Services segment, offset by declines in the Marketing Services and Business Services
segments. See our discussion of revenues in the segment information below. First quarter consolidated internal revenue, which represents total
revenue less incremental revenue from acquisitions, increased 4%, from $239.6 million for 2007 to $248.5 million for 2008 (excluding $4.4
million of incremental acquisition revenue in 2008).

Cost of Revenue

In the first quarter of 2008, cost of revenue was $136.9 million, or 53% of total revenue, consistent with $130.4 million, or 53% of revenue in
the same period of 2007. The increase in cost of revenue is primarily due to increased revenue in the Insurance Services segment, offset by
decreased revenue in the Marketing Services segment.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $60.2 million, or 23% of total revenue, in the first quarter of 2008 from $53.9 million,
or 22% of total revenue, in the first quarter of 2007. The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses is primarily due to increased
legal and incentive compensation costs, combined with increased costs in our Insurance Services and Screening and Authentication Services
segments.

Other Operating Charges

Other operating charges include the following:

Three Months ended
March 31,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Asset impairments $ 486 $ 279
Transaction-related expenses 2,044 �  
Lease abandonment, severance, and other expenses 1,440 311
Fraudulent data access related expense 99 567

Total other operating charges $ 4,069 $ 1,157
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The Company recorded other operating charges of $4.1 million ($2.7 million net of taxes) during the first quarter of 2008 that included $2.0
million for transaction-related expenses associated with the Company�s pending sale to Reed Elsevier, and $2.1 million consisting primarily of
severance and asset impairment charges.

The Company recorded other operating charges of $1.2 million ($0.7 million net of taxes) during the first quarter of 2007 that included $0.6
million for lease abandonment, severance, and impairment charges associated with the consolidation of facilities, and $0.6 million for third party
expenses related to the previously disclosed fraudulent data access incident in 2004.
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Operating Income

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007 Change
Operating Income $ 51,664 $ 54,106 -5%
Operating Income as a percentage of service revenue 20.4% 22.6%
Operating Income as a percentage of total revenue 20.1% 22.1%

The Company�s operating income for the first quarter of 2008 was $51.7 million compared to $54.1 million for the same period of 2007.
Operating income for the three months ended March 31, 2008 includes other operating charges of $4.1 million ($2.7 million net of taxes) that
include $2.0 million for transaction-related expenses associated with the Company�s pending sale to Reed Elsevier, and charges of $2.1 million
consisting primarily of severance and asset impairment charges.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company recorded other operating charges of $1.2 million ($0.7 million net of taxes) that include $0.6
million for lease abandonment, severance, and impairment charges associated with the consolidation of facilities, and $0.6 million for third party
expenses related to the previously disclosed fraudulent data access.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $7.7 million for the first quarter of 2008, an increase of $1.4 million from $6.3 million for the first quarter of 2007 due to
higher average debt outstanding, which is primarily associated with the Company�s share repurchases throughout 2007.

Income Taxes

ChoicePoint�s effective tax rate was 40.0% for the quarter ended March 31, 2008, compared to 38.1% for the quarter ended March 31, 2007. The
increase in the effective tax rate in 2008 is due primarily to the non-deductibility of certain charges incurred in connection with proposed
acquisition of ChoicePoint by Reed Elsevier, and the December 31, 2007 expiration of the Federal R&D Tax Credit.

Discontinued Operations

On April 23, 2008, the Company entered into an agreement to sell i2 in a cash purchase of $185 million, subject to certain pre-closing and
post-closing adjustments based upon the net working capital of i2 at the closing. In March 2008, the Company completed the sale of its iMap
business to a private investment group for total net proceeds of $1.8 million. During the first quarter of 2007, the Company completed the sale of
its Bode business, BLJ businesses as well as substantially all of its EquiSearch businesses for total net proceeds of $27.9 million. The results of
these discontinued operations are reflected in the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income as discontinued operations.

The following amounts related to the above businesses have been segregated from continuing operations and are reflected as discontinued
operations for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

(In thousands) 2008 2007
Total revenue $ 17,388 $ 27,046

Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ (5,863) $ 2,469
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations 60 (381)
Income tax (provision) benefit 2,384 (734)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ (3,419) $ 1,354
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Segment Information

The following table provides additional details of total revenue and operating income included in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of
Operations (unaudited):

Three months ended
March 31, 2008

Three months ended
March 31, 2007

(In thousands) Revenue
Operating
Income Revenue

Operating
Income

Insurance Services $ 142,686 $ 72,024 $ 125,282 $ 65,179
Screening and Authentication Services 62,319 10,401 61,438 10,067
Business Services 35,887 1,392 35,697 940
Marketing Services
Service revenue 12,015 (1,091) 17,200 1,197
Reimbursable expenses 3,539 �  4,859 �  

Total Marketing Services 15,554 (1,091) 22,059 1,197
Corporate and shared (a) �  (21,740) �  (16,585)
Stock-based compensation (b) �  (5,253) �  (5,535)
Other operating charges (c) �  (4,069) �  (1,157)

Totals $ 256,446 $ 51,664 $ 244,476 $ 54,106

(a) Corporate and shared expenses benefit all segments and include the following:

Q1 2008 Q1 2007
Group Centers $ 10,856 $ 11,201
Third-Party Legal, Audit, and Tax Costs 3,718 1,852
Incentive Compensation/ Benefits 6,407 3,162
Other 759 370

Total $ 21,740 $ 16,585
Group centers include functions such as finance, accounting, audit, legal, credentialing, executives, facilities, purchasing, marketing, human
resources and select technology costs. Total headcount related to these functions was 183 at March 31, 2008 and 190 at March 31, 2007.

(b) Stock-based compensation includes the following components:

Three months ended March 31,
2008 2007

Stock option expense $ 2,333 $ 3,243
Restricted stock expense 2,920 2,292

Total $ 5,253 $ 5,535

See Note 8 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a more complete description of stock-based compensation.

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 39



(c) The Company has presented analysis above with and with out these items because they represent costs that management excludes in its
assessments of operating results. See Note 5 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of other operating
charges.

In the first quarter of 2007, Insurance Services� total revenue increased 13.9% to $142.7 million, compared to $125.3 million in the first quarter
of 2007. Internal revenue growth from the first quarter of 2007 to the first quarter of 2008 of 12.2% excludes $2.1 million of revenue related to
an acquisition in the first quarter of 2008. This growth was a result of double-digit internal revenue growth in all three insurance businesses: data
services, claims solutions, and our software business.

26

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 40



Table of Contents

Operating income increased 10.5% in the Insurance Services group to $72.0 million for the first quarter of 2008, compared to $65.2 million in
the first quarter of 2007. Operating profit margin was 50.5% for the first quarter of 2008, compared to 52.0% in the same period of 2007. This
decrease is primarily due to changes in product mix and ongoing investments in new product initiatives.

Screening and Authentication Services� total revenue and internal revenue both increased by 1.4% to $62.3 million in the first quarter of 2008,
compared to $61.4 million in the first quarter of 2007. Double-digit internal revenue growth from our occupational health, tenant screening,
Bridger, and VitalChek businesses was offset by continued negative internal revenue growth in our employment-related screening business, due
primarily to reduced hiring levels by our customers, particularly customers in the retail sector.

Operating income for Screening and Authentication Services for the first quarter of 2008 was $10.4 million, compared to $10.1 million for the
same period of 2007. Operating profit margin increased to 16.7% for the first quarter of 2008, from 16.4% in the first quarter of 2007. This
increase is primarily due to the impact of the revenue increase discussed above.

Business Services� total revenue increased by 0.5% to $35.9 million in the first quarter of 2008, compared to $35.7 million in the first quarter of
2007. These results include the impact of our Charles Jones joint venture, which was effective July 1, 2007. Excluding the impact of the Charles
Jones joint venture, internal revenue declined 5.8% during the first quarter of 2008, as compared to the same period of the prior year, as we
experienced declining revenues, particularly from our on-demand business due diligence products.

Operating income in the Business Services segment was $1.4 million for the first quarter of 2008, compared to $0.9 million for the same period
of 2007. Operating profit margin was 3.9% for the first quarter of 2008, compared to 2.6% in the first quarter of 2007, as improved margins in
our public records business offset declines in the Charles Jones and BIS business units.

Marketing Services� first quarter total revenue and internal revenue (which includes all of the Company�s revenue from reimbursable expenses)
declined 29% to $15.6 million in 2008 from $22.1 million in 2007. Marketing Services� service revenue for the first quarter of 2008 declined
30% to $12.0 million from $17.2 million in the first quarter of 2007, primarily due to continued reductions in spending by our customers in the
financial services market.

Marketing Services incurred an operating loss of $1.1 million in the first quarter of 2008, compared with operating income of $1.2 million for
the same period of 2007. The operating profit margin decline from 7.0% in the first quarter of 2007 to a negative 9.1% in the first quarter of
2008 was due to the revenue decrease from 2007 to 2008.

Corporate and shared expenses for the first quarter of 2008 were $21.7 million, or 8.6 percent of consolidated service revenue, compared to
$16.6 million, or 6.9 percent of service revenue, in the first quarter of 2007. The increase in corporate and shared expenses is due to $1.9 million
of incremental third party legal costs, and $3.2 million of incremental incentive compensation.

Stock-based compensation expense of $5.3 million ($3.9 million net of taxes) was recorded during the first quarter of 2008. Approximately $0.9
million of stock-based compensation expense is included in cost of revenue, with the remaining $4.4 million of stock-based compensation
expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses. These amounts include restricted stock expense of $2.9 million ($1.8 million
net of taxes), and stock option expense of $2.3 million ($2.1 million net of taxes). The Company recorded $5.5 million ($4.1 million net of
taxes) of stock-based compensation expense in the first quarter of 2007, which includes restricted stock expense of $2.3 million ($1.4 million net
of taxes) and stock option expense of $3.2 million ($2.7 million net of taxes).

Cash Flow and Liquidity Review

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company�s sources of capital include, but are not limited to, cash and cash equivalents, cash from continuing operations, amounts available
under the Credit Facility, the Credit Agreement, and the Receivables Facility as those terms are defined below (see Note 7 to the Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements) and other external sources of funds. ChoicePoint�s short-term and long-term liquidity depends primarily upon
its level of net income, working capital management (accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses) and bank borrowings. The
Company believes that available short-term and long-term capital resources are sufficient to fund capital expenditures, working capital
requirements, scheduled debt payments, and interest and tax obligations for the next twelve months. The Company
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currently estimates 2008 capital expenditures will be approximately $50 � $60 million. Any material variance of operating results could require us
to obtain additional equity or debt financing. In addition, investments in business, products, or technologies could require us to obtain additional
equity or debt financing. There can be no assurance that such financing will be available to us on favorable terms.

The Company uses cash generated to invest in growing the business, to fund acquisitions and operations, and to repay debt. Therefore, no cash
dividends have been paid, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the near future. Pursuant to the terms of
the Merger Agreement, the Company may not pay dividends on its common stock without the prior written consent of Reed Elsevier. As
discussed below, the Company obtained additional long-term financing in January 2008. ChoicePoint may, subject to certain limitations on the
incurrence of indebtedness contained in the Merger Agreement, also utilize an existing line of credit for overnight borrowings; however, no such
borrowings were outstanding at either March 31, 2008 or December 31, 2007.

In 2006, the Company entered into a $600 million unsecured credit facility (the �Credit Facility�), which is expandable to $750 million. There was
$270.0 million outstanding under the Credit Facility at March 31, 2008, and $530.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2007. In addition,
approximately $10.5 million of the remaining availability under the Credit Facility was utilized for outstanding letters of credit. The Credit
Facility bears interest at either a base rate as defined in the Credit Facility or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margins range
from 0.28% to 0.60% per annum based on ChoicePoint�s funded debt to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
(�EBITDA�) ratio. Within the Credit Facility, the Company has a $50 million line of credit with a participating bank at either a base rate as
defined in the Credit Facility or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. At March 31, 2008 there were no borrowings outstanding under the line of
credit. The Credit Facility, including the line of credit, expires on October 25, 2011. The average interest rate based on the terms of the Credit
Facility was 3.3% at March 31, 2008.

On January 14, 2008, the Company entered into a $300 million five-year unsecured Term Loan Credit Agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) with
many of the same lenders that are party to the Credit Facility. Fees incurred in connection with the agreement totaled approximately $1.0 million
and are being amortized over the term of the agreement. All amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement were used to repay amounts
outstanding under the Credit Facility. There was $292.5 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement at March 31, 2008. ChoicePoint and its
material subsidiaries (as defined in the Credit Agreement) that are U.S. subsidiaries are guarantors of the obligations. The Credit Agreement
bears interest at either a base rate as defined in the Credit Agreement or LIBOR plus an applicable margin. The applicable margins range from
1.000% to 1.375% per annum based on ChoicePoint�s funded debt to EBITDA ratio. The Credit Agreement will mature on January 14, 2013. The
average interest rate based on the terms of the Credit Agreement was 4.2% at March 31, 2008.

In 2001, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries entered into an agreement (the �Receivables Facility�) with a financial institution whereby it
may sell on a continuous basis, an undivided interest in all eligible trade accounts receivable subject to limitations. The Company will maintain
the balance in the designated pool of accounts receivable sold by selling undivided interests in new receivables as existing receivables are
collected. The Receivables Facility permits the advance of up to $125 million on the sale of accounts receivable. Currently, the Receivables
Facility is payable in June 2008, but may be extended in one-year terms. Net proceeds from the Receivables Facility were $11.3 million at
March 31, 2008, and $80.0 million at December 31, 2007. The average interest rate based on the terms of the Receivables Facility was 4.4% at
March 31, 2008.

At March 31, 2008, the Company had $440.7 million of available capacity under the above facilities. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt
subsequent to March 31, 2008 are as follows: $11.3 million in 2008, $270.0 million in 2011, and $292.5 million in 2013.

Interest and tax payments totaling $7.4 million were made during the three months ended March 31, 2008.

Off-Balance Sheet Items

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company entered into a $12.5 million synthetic lease agreement for a new property. Under this synthetic
lease agreement, a third-party lessor purchased the property and paid for the build-out of the property completed in December 2006. The $12.5
million synthetic lease expires in 2012. On December 8, 2006, the Company entered into a $25.2 million synthetic lease agreement for its
headquarters building and a $46.2 million synthetic lease agreement for its data center facility. These agreements replaced the existing
agreements that were due to expire in 2007 and 2008. The new lease agreements expire in 2012, at which time the Company has the following
options for each lease: renew the lease for an additional five years, purchase the building for the original cost or sell the property itself
(remarket). If the Company elects to remarket the property, it must guarantee the lessor 80% to 85% of the original cost.
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The Company has accounted for the synthetic leases as operating leases and has recorded rent expense. If the Company had elected to purchase
the properties instead of entering into the synthetic leases, total assets and debt would have increased by $83.9 million at March 31, 2008 and
December 31, 2007 and it would have recorded additional depreciation expense related to the synthetic leases of approximately $0.8 million
($0.5 million after tax) for the three months ended March 31, 2008 and 2007.

Derivatives

Derivative financial instruments at March 31, 2008 consisted of four interest rate swap agreements entered into to reduce the impact of changes
in a benchmark interest rate (LIBOR) on the Company�s LIBOR-based payments on the Company�s synthetic leases and Credit Facility
(collectively, the �Swap Agreements�). At March 31, 2008, the total notional amount under these Swap Agreements was $283.9 million,
consisting of the $12.5 million, $25.2 million, and $46.2 million swap agreements related to the synthetic lease agreements discussed above, and
$200.0 million related to the Credit Facility. The Swap Agreements involve the receipt of a variable rate and payment by ChoicePoint of fixed
rates of 4.9%. The swap agreements which relate to the company�s synthetic leases mature in January 2012, and the swap agreement related to
the Credit Facility matures in October 2011. The Company has designated all of these swaps as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected
future interest payments on the Company�s aggregate $83.9 million in synthetic leases and $200 million of the amount outstanding on the Credit
Facility. Amounts currently due to or from interest rate swap counterparties are recorded as expense in the period in which they accrue. The
Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Company is exposed to credit loss in the
event of nonperformance by the other parties to the Swap Agreements. However, the Company does not anticipate nonperformance by the
counterparties. As of March 31, 2008, the fair value of the outstanding Swap Agreements was a liability of $20.1 million, which is included in
the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, and has been recorded net of taxes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138 (see Note 7 to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements).

Summary of Cash Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $6.1 million to $43.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2008 from $37.8 million
for the first quarter of 2007. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was driven primarily by improved working capital
management.

Net cash used by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2008 was $19.3 million and included $14.9 million in capital
expenditures and $6.2 million for the acquisition of Optimal Decisions Group, offset by $1.8 million net proceeds for the sale of our iMap
business. The Company did not invest in any new businesses in the first quarter of 2007. Net cash provided by investing activities of $17.1
million in the first quarter of 2007 included $27.9 million for the sale of businesses, offset by capital expenditures of $10.5 million.

Net cash used in financing activities was $18.6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2008 due primarily to net repayments of $260.0
million under the Credit Facility and $68.7 million under the Receivables Facility, offset by net borrowings of $292.5 million under the Credit
Agreement, and $17.1 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock options. During the comparable period of 2007, the Company used net cash
in financing activities of $42.9 million that included net borrowings of $35.0 million under the Credit Facility and $10.0 million under the
Receivables Facility, and the repurchase of $90.1 million of Company stock.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, (�GAAP�), which require the Company to make estimates and assumptions which may be revised over time as new information and
regulations become available. The Company believes that of its significant accounting policies (see Notes to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements), the following may involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity:

Impairment Charges

SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, requires the testing of intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill for impairment
at least annually. The Company used a discounted estimated future cash flows methodology to determine the fair value of its intangible assets. In
assessing the recoverability of these assets, the Company must make assumptions regarding the estimated discounted future cash flows to
determine the estimated fair value of the respective assets. Assumptions critical to the fair value estimates were: (i) the present value factors used
in determining the fair value
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of the reporting units and trade names or third party indicated fair values for assets expected to be disposed; (ii) projected average revenue
growth rates used in the reporting unit; and (iii) projected long-term growth rates used in the derivation of terminal year values. The Company
also tested fair value for reasonableness by comparison to the market capitalization of the Company. These and other assumptions are impacted
by economic conditions and expectations of management and will change in the future based on period specific facts and circumstances.

The Company completed its last annual goodwill impairment review as of October 31, 2007. As a result of this review, the Company recorded a
non-cash impairment charge of $86.0 million ($53.4 million after tax benefit) to reduce the carrying value of goodwill and other assets in its
Marketing Services segment to reflect the estimated fair value of this business. The decline in revenue from our customers primarily in the
sub-prime mortgage lending market, together with our assessment that this market will likely remain depressed for at least the near term, were
the primary reasons for recording the adjustment to the carrying value of this reporting unit. Additionally, during 2007, in connection with the
decision to divest its iMap business, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $57.7 million ($35.6 million after tax benefit) to
reflect the currently estimated net proceeds to be realized from selling the business.

The Company is required to assess the other acquired intangible assets, such as purchased software, customer relationships and non-compete
agreements, and tangible long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment, for impairment whenever indicators of impairment exist in
accordance with SFAS No. 144. Management uses measurable operating performance criteria as well as qualitative measures to determine
whether an indicator of impairment exists. If an indicator of impairment exists, the Company reviews and reevaluates the assumptions used,
which are primarily identified from the Company�s budget and longer-term strategic plan, for assessing the recoverability of such assets and
adjusts them as necessary. If the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable, based upon the expected undiscounted future cash flows of the
asset, an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount over the estimated fair value of the asset is recorded. Also, in connection
with selling and integrating certain business operations, the Company has historically recorded asset impairment charges for property,
equipment, data and software assets that will no longer be used. Inherent in the assumptions used in impairment analyses are certain significant
management judgments and estimates, such as future revenue growth, future operating margins, and future undiscounted cash flows. The
Company periodically reviews and reevaluates these assumptions and adjusts them as necessary.

Purchase Price Allocation

Over its history, the Company�s growth has been partly driven by acquisitions. The application of the purchase method of accounting requires
companies to assign values to acquired assets and liabilities, including intangible assets acquired based on their fair value. The determination of
fair value for acquired assets, particularly intangible assets, requires a high degree of judgment, and estimates often involve significant
subjectivity due to the lack of transparent market data or listed market prices. The Company generally uses internal evaluations in determining
the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed; however, the use of different valuation models or assumptions could result in different
amounts of goodwill and other acquisition intangible assets and different lives for amortizable intangible assets. As of March 31, 2008, certain of
the Company�s purchase price allocations were based on preliminary estimates which may be revised in future periods as estimates and
assumptions are finalized (see Note 10 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company does not anticipate that these
revisions would be significant to the financial statements taken as a whole.

Software and Databases Developed for Internal Use

The Company capitalizes certain direct costs incurred in the development of internal use software and databases. Amortization of such costs as
cost of service revenue is calculated on a straight-line basis generally over three to five years. The Company evaluates the recoverability of
capitalized costs periodically or as changes in circumstances suggest a possible impairment may exist in accordance with SFAS No. 144.
Amortization of capitalized software and database costs, including data purchases, amounted to $2.9 million in the first quarter of 2008 and $3.1
million in the first quarter of 2007.

Postretirement Benefit Obligations

In connection with developing the Company�s projected liabilities for postretirement benefits, management is required to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the liability as of the date of the financial statements and the amount of expense recognized
during the period. The liability is developed based on currently available information, estimates of future trends and actuarial assumptions
including a discount rate of 6.07% and an initial health care cost trend rate of approximately 9.30% as of December 31, 2007. A 0.25% decrease
in the discount rate to 5.82% would result in an increase in the liability of approximately $360,000. A 0.25% increase in the discount rate to
6.32% would result in a decrease in the liability of approximately $350,000. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Revenue Recognition

Certain of the Company�s revenues are accounted for under the percentage of completion method and some of its software revenues are allocated
to each element of a transaction based upon its fair value as determined by vendor specific objective evidence. The Company estimates the
percentage of completion on contracts and determines the software revenue allocation method based on assumptions and estimates that require
judgment. Changes in estimates to complete and revisions to the fair value used in the allocation of software revenue elements could result in a
change in the timing of revenue recognition. Management believes its method and related assumptions, which have been consistently applied, to
be reasonable.

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R)�s fair value method of measurement for all share-based payment transactions with
employees using its modified prospective transition method. Under this transition method, compensation cost was recognized after adoption for
all share-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, and all share-based payments granted subsequent to
January 1, 2006. As of March 31, 2008, there was approximately $11.4 million in total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options,
$12.8 million related to restricted shares, $5.7 million related to deferred shares, $2.9 million related to phantom shares, and $0.8 million related
to share equivalent units. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.2 years for stock options, 2.2 years for
restricted shares, 2.1 years for deferred shares, 2.1 years for phantom shares, and 0.7 years for share equivalent units. Management judgments
and assumptions related to volatility, the expected term and the forfeiture rate are made in connection with the calculation of stock compensation
expense. The Company periodically reviews all assumptions used in its stock option pricing model. Changes in these assumptions for future
grants could have a significant impact on the amount of stock-based compensation expense.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued FSP No. FAS 157-2, which delays the effective date of SFAS 157,
�Fair Value Measurements,� for nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in
the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually). Nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities would include all assets and
liabilities other than those meeting the definition of a financial asset or financial liability as defined in paragraph 6 of SFAS No. 159, �The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.� This FASB Staff Position defers the effective date of Statement 157 to fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of FSP No. FAS 157-2.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), �Business Combinations� (�SFAS 141(R)�), which replaces SFAS No. 141,
�Business Combinations.� SFAS 141(R) retains the underlying concepts of SFAS 141 in that all business combinations are still required to be
accounted for at fair value under the acquisition method of accounting but SFAS 141(R) changed the method of applying the acquisition method
in a number of significant aspects. Acquisition costs will generally be expensed as incurred; noncontrolling interests will be valued at fair value
at the acquisition date; in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived intangible asset at the acquisition
date; restructuring costs associated with a business combination will generally be expensed subsequent to the acquisition date; and changes in
deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. SFAS
141(R) is effective on a prospective basis for all business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period subsequent to December 15, 2008, with the exception of the accounting for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired
tax contingencies. SFAS 141(R) amends SFAS 109 such that adjustments made to valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax
contingencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the effective date of SFAS 141(R) would also apply the provisions of SFAS
141(R). Early adoption is not permitted. We are currently evaluating the effects, if any, that SFAS 141(R) may have on our financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, �Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements�an amendment of ARB
No. 51� (�SFAS 160�). This statement is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15,
2008, with earlier adoption prohibited. This statement requires the recognition of a noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the
consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent�s equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will
be included in consolidated net income on the face of the income statement. It also amends certain of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51�s
consolidation procedures for consistency with the requirements of SFAS 141(R). This statement also includes
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expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent and its noncontrolling interest. We are currently evaluating the effects that
SFAS 160 may have on our financial statements.

Fair Value Measurement

The Company adopted SFAS No. 157, �Fair Value Measurements� (�SFAS 157�), on January 1, 2008. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Our adoption of SFAS 157 was limited to financial
assets and liabilities, which primarily relate to our derivative contracts. The fair value hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements under
SFAS 157 is as follows:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable

Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable (for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions)
The following table summarizes assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at March 31, 2008, as required by SFAS 157:

(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets
Investments $ �  $ �  $ �  
Liabilities
Interest rate swap $ �  $ 20,053 $ �  

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company entered into the Swap Agreements to receive variable rate interest and pay fixed rate interest of
4.9%. The Company has designated all of these Swap Agreements as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected future interest payments on
the Company�s aggregate $83.9 million in synthetic leases and $200 million of the amount outstanding on the Credit Facility. The Swap
Agreements that relate to the Company�s synthetic leases mature in January 2012, and the Swap Agreement related to the Credit Facility matures
in October 2011.

The fair values of the Swap Agreements are based on quoted market prices for similar liabilities or determined using inputs that use as their basis
readily observable market data that are actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, including third-party pricing services,
brokers, and market transactions.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q may constitute �forward-looking statements� as defined under the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words or phrases such as �should result,� �are expected to,� �anticipate,� �estimate,� �project,� or similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not
limited to, the following important factors: the results of our ongoing review of fraudulent data access and other events, the risk that the
proposed merger between the Company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Reed Elsevier Group plc will not be consummated within the time
frame contemplated by the Company or at all, the results of litigation or government proceedings, demand for the Company�s services, product
development, maintaining acceptable margins, the continued revenue decline from customers in the sub-prime mortgage lending industry,
maintaining our data supply, maintaining secure systems including personal privacy systems, our ability to minimize system interruptions, our
ability to control costs, the impact of federal, state and local regulatory requirements on the Company�s business, privacy matters and any federal
or state legislative responses to identify theft concerns, the impact of competition and customer consolidations, our ability to continue our
long-term business strategy, the implementation of plans to divest the software business of our Government Services segment, including
unanticipated losses realized in connection with any such sales, our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, and the uncertainty of
economic conditions in general. Additional information concerning these and other risks and uncertainties is contained in the Company�s filings
with the SEC, including the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007. Readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements, since the statements speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and the
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update these statements based on events that may occur after the date of this report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates. The information below summarizes the Company�s market risk associated
with its debt obligations as of March 31, 2008. The information below should be read in conjunction with Note 7 to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

At March 31, 2008, borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility were $270.0 million, borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement
were $292.5 million, and borrowings outstanding under the Receivables Facility were $11.3 million. These facilities bear interest at variable
rates based on LIBOR plus applicable margins. At March 31, 2008, the Company�s interest rate was 3.3% under the Credit Facility, 4.2% under
the Credit Agreement, and 4.4% under the Receivables Facility. At March 31, 2008, $83.9 million was outstanding under the Company�s
synthetic lease agreements. At March 31, 2008, the total notional amount under the Swap Agreements was $283.9 million, consisting of the
$12.5 million, $25.2 million, and $46.2 million swap agreements related to the synthetic lease agreements, and $200.0 million related to the
Credit Facility. The Swap Agreements involve the receipt of a variable rate and payment by ChoicePoint of fixed rates of 4.9%. The Swap
Agreements which relate to the company�s synthetic leases mature in January 2012, and the Swap Agreement related to the Credit Facility
matures in October 2011. The Company has designated all of these swaps as cash flow hedges of the variability in expected future interest
payments on the Company�s aggregate $83.9 million in synthetic leases and $200 million of the amount outstanding on the Credit Facility.

Based on the Company�s overall interest rate exposure at March 31, 2008, a one percent change in interest rates would result in a change in
annual pretax interest expense of approximately $3.7 million based on the Company�s current level of borrowings.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company is required to translate, or express in U.S. dollars, the assets and liabilities of its foreign subsidiaries that are denominated or
measured in foreign currencies at the applicable year-end rate of exchange on the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
Company records the resulting translation adjustment, and gains and losses resulting from the translation of intercompany balances of a
long-term investment nature, as components of its shareholders� equity. Other immaterial foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
recorded in the Company�s Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company has not hedged translational foreign currency
exposure.

The majority of the Company�s revenue, expense and capital expenditure activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, the Company does
transact business in other currencies, primarily the British pound. The Company�s operations in the United Kingdom and other foreign countries
represented less than 1% of consolidated revenue from continuing operations and less than 4% of total revenue, including discontinued
operations, during the three months ended March 31, 2008.

For the three months ended March 31, 2008, a 10% fluctuation in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the British pound would result
in a change in revenues of $0.9 million, and a change in net income of $0.3 million.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures
As required by Securities and Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) rules, the Company has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation
of its disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This evaluation was carried
out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company�s management, including its principal executive officer and principal
financial officer. Based on this evaluation, these officers have concluded that the design and operation of the Company�s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the �Exchange Act�), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC�s rules and forms.

Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company�s management,
including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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There were no changes in the Company�s internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2008, that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Below is a description of the Company�s material pending legal proceedings. While the ultimate resolution of the matters discussed below cannot
presently be determined, an unfavorable outcome in these cases could have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial condition or
results of operations.

Class Action Litigation

Fresco Litigation. A class action lawsuit against the Company was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida on
August 11, 2003 (Fresco, et al. v. Automotive Directions Inc., et al.) alleging that the Company obtained, disclosed and used information
obtained from the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (�Florida DHSMV�) in violation of the federal Drivers Privacy
Protection Act (�DPPA�). In their complaint, the plaintiffs seek to represent classes of individuals whose personal information from Florida
DHSMV records has been obtained, disclosed and used for marketing purposes or other allegedly impermissible uses by the Company without
the express written consent of the individual. A number of the Company�s competitors have also been sued in the same or similar litigation in
Florida. This complaint seeks certification as a class action, compensatory damages, attorneys� fees and costs, and injunctive and other relief.
After vigorously defending against the action, the defendants engaged in court ordered mediation beginning in February 2006. A proposed
settlement agreement was filed with the court on December 20, 2006, on behalf of the Plaintiffs and all but two of the named defendants. On
May 11, 2007, the District Court entered orders which, among other things: (1) granted preliminary approval of the proposed class action
settlement; (2) certified the conditional nationwide class; (3) denied the motion of the Texas plaintiffs (referenced below) to intervene in Fresco
; and (4) granted an injunction to maintain the status quo, which prohibits the Texas action (referenced below) from moving forward. On
May 11, 2007, the Texas intervenors and the putative class members in the Texas case filed a notice of appeal with respect to the denial of the
motion for limited intervention and the granting of the temporary injunction. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit issued
an order dated June 6, 2007, questioning whether it has jurisdiction over the appeal. The interested parties have submitted briefs to the Court of
Appeals responding to this question. On September 24, 2007, the Court of Appeals issued an Order declining jurisdiction of the Texas
Interveners� Motion to Intervene and finding that it did have jurisdiction to decide permissibility of the preliminary approval Order�s injunction
against pursuing related proceedings in other Courts. The Court denied the Fresco Plaintiffs� Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Sanctions with
respect to the Texas Interveners� Motion to Stay. On October 24, 2007, the District Court held the final approval hearing on the proposed class
action settlement. The Court has not yet issued a ruling. The Company believes that any additional liability which may result from the resolution
of this action in excess of the amounts to be paid pursuant to the settlement agreement with the Fresco plaintiffs will not have a material effect
on the financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.

Taylor Litigation. On January 5, 2007, a purported class action lawsuit was filed against the Company and certain of its competitors in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, Taylor v. Acxiom Corporation, on behalf of each and every individual in the State
of Texas whose name, address, driver identification number, and certain other identifiers are contained in motor vehicle records obtained by the
defendants from the Texas Department of Public Safety without the express consent of the individual during the period from June 1, 2000,
through the date of judgment. The plaintiff also filed pleadings seeking to intervene in the Fresco litigation and objecting to the proposed
settlement agreement for such litigation. The ruling on such pleadings is addressed above. On February 8, 2007, the Company filed a motion to
dismiss the Taylor litigation based on the fact that Fresco was first-filed, the nationwide class in Fresco encompasses the Texas class, and
reasons of judicial economy and fundamental fairness dictate against duplicative class actions in federal courts. The Taylor litigation is currently
enjoined from proceeding pursuant to the District Court�s order issued in the Fresco litigation, discussed above.

Fraudulent Data Access

The Company�s response to the 2004 fraudulent data access and other similar incidents requiring notification of consumers is ongoing. The
Company is involved in legal proceedings that relate to these matters. Regardless of the merits and ultimate outcome of this litigation,
proceedings of this type are expensive and will require substantial Company resources and executive time. The Company believes that there
could be other instances that may result in notification to consumers. As previously stated, the Company intends for consumers to be notified, in
accordance with current state law requirements, and in accordance with ChoicePoint policy, if it is determined that their sensitive personally
identifiable information has been acquired by unauthorized parties. The Company does not believe that the impact from notifying affected
consumers will be material to the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 52



35

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 53



Table of Contents

FTC and State Attorneys General Investigations. In February 2006, the Company reached a settlement with the FTC regarding its investigation
into the Company�s compliance with federal laws governing consumer information security and related issues, including the fraudulent data
access that occurred in 2004. As part of the settlement, the Company was required to submit a report to the FTC within 180 days of the
settlement evidencing compliance with the terms of the settlement. On February 20, 2008, the Company received a letter from the FTC notifying
the Company that after reviewing such report, the Enforcement Division of the FTC was not recommending any enforcement action to the FTC.
The settlement requires the Company to obtain every two years until 2026, an assessment from a qualified, independent third-party professional
to ensure that the Company�s information security program meets the standards of the settlement. Effective June 5, 2007, the Company also
entered into an Assurance of Voluntary Compliance and Discontinuance with the Attorneys General of 43 states and the District of Columbia.

SEC Investigation. The Company received notice from the SEC on May 12, 2005, that it was conducting an investigation into the circumstances
surrounding any possible identity theft, trading in the Company�s stock by its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and related
matters. The Company cooperated with the SEC and provided the requested information and documents. On January 18, 2008, the staff of the
SEC notified the Company by letter that the staff had completed its investigation and was not recommending any enforcement action by the
SEC.

In re ChoicePoint Inc. Securities Litigation. On March 4, 2005, a purchaser of the Company�s securities filed a lawsuit against the Company and
certain of its officers in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. The complaint alleges that the defendants violated
federal securities laws by issuing false or misleading information in connection with the fraudulent data access. Additional complaints alleging
substantially similar claims have been filed by other purchasers of the Company�s securities in the Central District of California on March 10,
2005, and in the Northern District of Georgia on March 11, 2005, March 22, 2005, and March 24, 2005. By court order, the cases pending in the
Central District of California have been transferred to the Northern District of Georgia. By order dated August 5, 2005, the court consolidated
each of the pending cases into a single consolidated action, In re ChoicePoint Inc. Securities Litigation, 1:05-CV-00686. A consolidated
amended complaint was filed on January 13, 2006, and seeks certification as a class action and unspecified compensatory damages, attorneys�
fees, costs, and other relief. On March 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint. On November 21,
2006, the court entered an order denying the defendants� motion to dismiss. Thereafter, defendants moved the court to certify its order for
immediate review. The court granted that motion on January 10, 2007. On January 25, 2007, the defendants filed a petition asking the United
States Circuit Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit to allow them to appeal on an interlocutory basis. On May 3, 2007, the defendants�
petition was denied. As a result, the District Court re-opened the case. Based on the subsequent U.S. Supreme Court decision in Tellabs, Inc. v.
Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., which requires District Courts to consider competing inferences of scienter rather than just those most favorable to
a plaintiff, the Company filed a renewed motion to dismiss.

On January 15, 2008, the Company entered into a Letter of Understanding pursuant to which the parties to the litigation would, subject to notice
to the class, court approval and certain other conditions, settle all claims. The Company and the other defendants do not admit to any liability by
the Company or such defendants. Under the terms of the Letter of Understanding, the Company will pay $10 million to the plaintiffs, subject to
court approval. On March 7, 2008, the parties filed the Stipulation of Settlement and accompanying documents with the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Georgia. On March 24, 2008, the court issued an Order preliminarily approving the settlement and setting the
Final Fairness Hearing for June 12, 2008. The Company anticipates that the settlement as outlined in the Letter of Understanding will have no
effect on the Company�s financial results as the Company had previously reserved funds to pay for the portion of the settlement amount not
covered by insurance.

Mellott Litigation. On May 20, 2005, a purported class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia against the Company and certain individuals who are alleged to be fiduciaries under the ChoicePoint Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan
(the �Plan�), Curtis R. Mellott v. ChoicePoint Inc., et al., 1:05-CV-1340. The suit alleges violations of ERISA fiduciary rules through the
acquisition and retention of the Company�s stock by the Plan on and after November 24, 2004. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, injunctive
and equitable relief, attorneys� fees and costs. On April 14, 2006, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which the court granted on March 7,
2007, disposing of the case in its entirety. On March 21, 2007, plaintiffs filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied on June 18, 2007.
On July 12, 2007, Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, which was docketed on
July 16, 2007.

On November 21, 2007, a Settlement Agreement was signed by all parties to the litigation and filed with the District Court. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, the parties agreed to the following equitable relief: (a) Plan participants will
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retain the right through December 31, 2010, to diversify freely out of the Company�s matching contribution made in the Company�s common
stock; (b) the Company�s matching contribution will be at least 25% for three years; (c) the Company will continue its current investment
education program for three years; and (d) the Company will post language on its intranet site for three years that will advise participants to give
careful consideration of the benefits of a well-balanced and diversified investment portfolio. In addition, the Company agreed to pay $10,000 to
the named plaintiff, attorneys� fees and costs in the amount of $100,000, costs of settlement notices to the class as well as costs of settlement
administration, and costs to retain an independent fiduciary for settlement review and approval on behalf of Plan participants. On December 6,
2007, the Company filed a Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of the Class Action Settlement with the District Court and on December 11,
2007, the Company filed its Joint Motion to Stay Appeal Pending Review and Approval of Settlement with the District Court. On March 21,
2008, ChoicePoint filed a Joint Motion asking the Eleventh Circuit to remand the Appeal for the limited purpose of the District Court
effectuating the Settlement. On March 28, 2008, the Company filed a Joint Motion with the District Court seeking to vacate the dismissal of the
litigation and to reinstate the litigation in order to give the Judge jurisdiction to review and approve the settlement. On April 25, 2008, the United
States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit granted our Joint Motion and remanded the Appeal to the District Court for the limited purpose
of considering motions for the approval of the settlement of the litigation.

Other Litigation

The Company also is involved in other litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of its business. The Company provides for estimated
legal fees and settlements relating to pending lawsuits when they are probable and reasonably estimable. The Company does not believe that the
outcome of any such pending or threatened litigation in the ordinary course of business will have a material adverse effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the Company. However, as is inherent in legal proceedings where issues may be decided by finders of fact,
there is a risk that unpredictable decisions adverse to the Company could be reached.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, �Item 1A. Risk Factors� in
the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, which could materially affect the Company�s business,
financial condition or future results. The risks described in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q
are not the only risks facing the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to the Company or that the Company currently
deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect its business, financial condition and operating results.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Not applicable.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
Not Applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits
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  2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 20, 2008, by and amount ChoicePoint Inc., Reed Elsevier Group plc and Deuce
Acquisition Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 22, 2008).

  3.1 Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006).

  3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company�s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006).

  4.1 Form of Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-30297).
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10.1 Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of January 14, 2008, amount the Company and Wachovia Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent
and a lender, US bank, N.A. as Syndication Agent and a lender, and certain other lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 of
the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007).

10.2 Amendment No. 2 to the Employment and Compensation Agreement between the Company and Carol A. DiBattiste dated as of
January 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007)*

31.1 Certification of Derek V. Smith, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a�14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of David E. Trine, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a�14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Derek V. Smith, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of David E. Trine, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CHOICEPOINT INC.
(Registrant)

May 8, 2008 /s/ Derek V. Smith
Date Derek V. Smith, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer)

May 8, 2008 /s/ David E. Trine
Date David E. Trine, Chief Financial Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

39

Edgar Filing: CHOICEPOINT INC - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 58


